
AGENDA
MEETING VENUE:

Anglia Room, The 
Conference Suite, 

Elizabeth House, Dereham

Contact: Julie Britton
Direct Dial: 01362 656343
e-mail: julie.britton@breckland.gov.uk

Date: Tuesday, 5 March 2019

Dear Sir/Madam,

Members of the Council are hereby summoned to a Meeting of the District Council which 
will be held at 10.00 am on Thursday, 14th March, 2019 in the Anglia Room, The 
Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham

Yours faithfully

Anna Graves
Chief Executive

The Democratic Services Officer to call the roll of Members

Members of the Council requiring further information, or with specific 
questions, are asked to raise these with the appropriate officer at least 
two working days before the meeting.  If the information requested is 
available, this will be provided, and reported to Council.

THIS MEETING WILL BE RECORDED BY THE COUNCIL

Mobile phones and other equipment may also be used to audio record, film, tweet or 
blog from this meeting by an individual Council Member or a member of the public.  
No part of the meeting room is exempt from public filming etc unless the meeting 
resolves to go into private session.  However, the use of images or recordings arising 
from this is not under the Council’s control.  

Public Document Pack





Council
14 March 2019

Page(s)
herewith

1. APOLOGIES 
To receive apologies for absence.  

2. MINUTES 4 - 16
To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 21 February 2019.

3. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
The duties to register, disclose and not to participate for the entire consideration 
of the matter, in respect of any matter in which a Member has a disclosable 
pecuniary interest are set out in Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 2011.  Members 
are also required to withdraw from the meeting room as stated in the Standing 
Orders of this Council.

4. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 17

5. LEADER'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 
To receive a verbal update from Councillor Nunn, Leader of the Council.

6. QUESTIONS ON NOTICE UNDER STANDING ORDER NO 6 

7. QUESTIONS WITHOUT NOTICE UNDER STANDING ORDER NO 7 

8. PLANNING COMMITTEE 18 - 30
Confirmed minutes of the Planning Committee meeting held on 11 February 
2019.

9. GOVERNANCE & AUDIT COMMITTEE 31 - 40
Unconfirmed minutes of the Governance and Audit Committee meeting held on 
15 February 2019.

10. NOMINATIONS FOR COMMITTEE AND OTHER SEATS 
To receive nominations for any changes to Committee and other seats from 
political groups.

11. AMENDMENTS TO THE CONSTITUTION 

12. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE URGENT - 
NOTE: No other business is permitted unless by reason of special 

circumstances, which shall be specified in the minutes, the Chairman is 
of the opinion that the items(s) should be considered as a matter of 
urgency.

For Information
CHAIRMAN AND EXECUTIVE MEMBERS' SURGERY

At the end of the Council meeting, Chairmen of Committees and Executive 
Members will be available to members who wish to put forward specific 
questions, for example on ward issues.



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

COUNCIL

Held on Thursday, 21 February 2019 at 10.00 am in the
Anglia Room, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham

PRESENT
Mr T. J. Ashby
Mr S Askew
Mr S.G. Bambridge
Mr W.P. Borrett
Councillor C. Bowes
Mr R. F. W. Brame
Mr M. P. Brindle
Mr T. R. Carter
Councillor M. Chapman-Allen
Mr S. H. Chapman-Allen
Mr H. E. J. Clarke
Mr P.D. Claussen
Mr J.P. Cowen
Mr D. M. Crawford
Mr P. M. M. Dimoglou
Mr R.W. Duffield (Chairman)
Mr P.J. Duigan
Mr K.S. Gilbert
Councillor E. Gould
Mr P.J. Hewett
Mrs T. Hewett
Mr T. J. Jermy

Mr A.P. Joel
Mr R.G. Kybird
Mr K. Martin
Mrs S.M. Matthews
Mrs L.H. Monument
Mr T. F. C. Monument
Mr M. J. Nairn
Mr J.W. Nunn
Mr R. R. Richmond
Mr M. S. Robinson
Mr J.D. Rogers
Mr F.J. Sharpe
Mr I. Sherwood
Mr W.H.C. Smith
Mr A.C. Stasiak
Mr M Taylor
Mrs L.S. Turner (Vice-Chairman)
Mr M. A. Wassell
Mrs A. M. Webb
Mr N.C. Wilkin
Mr P. S. Wilkinson

In Attendance
Anna Graves - Chief Executive
Maxine O'Mahony - Executive Director of Strategy & 

Governance (Monitoring Officer)
Christine Marshall - Executive Director Commercialisation 

(S151 Officer)
Mark Stinson - Executive Manager Governance (Deputy 

Monitoring Officer)
Rob Walker - Executive Director Place
Alison Chubbock - Chief Accountant (Deputy Section 151 

Officer) (BDC)
Julie Britton - Democratic Services Officer

Action By
18/19APOLOGIES (AGENDA ITEM 1) 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Darby, Hollis, Oliver and 
William Richmond.

Councillor Millbank was marked as absent as no apologies had been received.

19/19MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 2) 

The Minutes of the meeting held on 24 January 2019 were confirmed as a correct 
record and signed by the Chairman.

4

Agenda Item 2



Council
21 February 2019

2

Action By

20/19DECLARATION OF INTERESTS (AGENDA ITEM 3) 

None.

21/19CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (AGENDA ITEM 4) 

It had been quite a quiet month but one event that the Chairman was looking forward 
to was a 2 hour flight on the re-fuelling plane from Mildenhall.  The month ahead; 
however, was going to be quite busy and his diary was already fairly booked.

The Chairman reminded Members that under agenda item 12, if they were two 
months or more in arrears with their Council Tax, they must disclose the fact and not 
vote on any item to set tax or any decision which may affect its calculation.

22/19LEADER'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (AGENDA ITEM 5) 

The Leader made the following announcements:

 Elections - Members were made aware that the Elections Team was there to 
support any Councillor that needed assistance.  The Leader mentioned the 
Prospective Councillor Event that took place recently and thanked his 
colleagues who supported that event and congratulated all those involved.  
He felt that it was very important to get people interested in local Government 
and willing to stand for local Election.

 Swaffham Air Quality – Members were aware of previous conversations in 
respect of this matter and the Leader was pleased to announce that the air 
quality in Swaffham was improving.  DEFRA was now suggesting different 
actions and had been pleased with what the Council had achieved to date in 
relation to the reduction of nitrogen dioxide. Breckland Council would continue 
to strive moving forwards and continue to work with Norfolk County Council to 
improve the flow of vehicles through the towns. 

 BreckWorld – A brand new app available to download from the App Store, 
backed by Stephen Fry, had recently been launched by the Council with 166 
downloads already. The Leader was sure that this interest had been helped 
by Stephen Fry tweeting about the app to his many followers far and wide.  
The app had been delivered working with Ryan Baxter, the young 
entrepreneur who Members met at the last Council meeting. The Leader said 
that since visiting the BreckWorld site he had seen many places that he never 
knew existed even though he had lived most of his life in Breckland and he 
encouraged Members to download the app. 

 Town & Parish Council Forum – this event would be taking place later, from 
5.30pm in the Conference Suite.  He knew of a few District Members that 
were attending and he also knew that there were approximately 50 Town & 
Parish Councillors on the list to attend.

 Cyber Security – the Council had received a grant from the LGA to ensure 
that all Members would have the opportunity for training. There would be 
cyber security e-learning modules for all Councillors from May 2019 onwards 
to hopefully address these future challenges going forward.

 Funding for Fibre – The Leader congratulated Norfolk County Council (NCC) 
who had recently secured an additional £8m which would see fibre broadband 
rolled out to those parts of the District that were in the very rural areas.  He 
felt as a collective, all were trying hard to recognise the more deprived and 
remote areas that suffered the worst possible signals both in phone lines and 
broadband so the more that could be done collectively to drive that forward 
the better.

5



Council
21 February 2019

3

Action By

Councillor Wassell asked the Leader a question about broadband.  He believed that it 
was still the case that the Council had not used the £950k that had been allocated for 
broadband a number of years ago and asked what proportion of the NCC money was 
likely to be spent in Breckland.  If the amount was not sufficient, he wanted to know if 
the Council would be able to utilise the £950k to ensure that these particular 
residents in the remotest areas of Breckland received the best possible broadband 
speed. The Leader explained that the £950k had not been utilised as yet and was 
being held by the Council as a Reserve to match fund NCC funding as had always 
been the case.  The funding was only ever going to be drawn down when NCC could 
not secure enough funding from other sources but now that National Government 
was funding fibre broadband, Breckland’s money would be used to reach as many 
‘cold spots’ as possible.

Councillor Joel asked the Leader when BreckWorld would be rolled out to android 
customers.  A definitive answer was not possible at present, but was likely to depend 
upon how much interest the current app would generated.  The app was launched on 
a single platform to keep the Council’s costs relatively low but as long as BreckWorld 
continued to go well and prove popular he could not see any reason for not rolling it 
out to android customers in due course.  

23/19QUESTIONS ON NOTICE UNDER STANDING ORDER NO 6 (AGENDA ITEM 6) 

None received.

24/19QUESTIONS WITHOUT NOTICE UNDER STANDING ORDER NO 7 (AGENDA 
ITEM 7) 

Councillor Clarke asked the Leader if he would rule out completely the introduction of 
car park charging at Cherry Tree car park and elsewhere after the 2nd May Elections 
so as not to stifle initiative in the market towns.  The Leader said that he could not 
provide Councillors with an answer as he did not know if, following the Elections, he 
would be elected as Leader.  This was; however, a manifesto commitment.

Councillor Dimoglou asked two short questions of Councillor Cowen, the Executive 
Member for Finance & Delivery:  

 The first question was in relation to one of the outstanding success stories of 
this administration, the Unsightly Sites Policy.  At a recent Overview & 
Scrutiny Commission meeting, a presentation had been provided on the 
progress of some unsightly sites and although he had been impressed with 
the progress, the actual initiative seemed as if it could have benefited from 
enhanced resources.  Councillor Dimoglou asked if the Finance department 
intended to better fund and support this important aspect of work. 

 Councillor Dimoglou also asked the Executive Member to confirm if the 
Council Tax increase was once again, the maximum permitted by law as this 
had been the fourth year running that this increase had been applied despite 
Breckland Council having millions of pounds in Reserves which he felt would 
be another blow to hard pressed families living in Breckland. 

 In response to the first question, in relation to unsightly sites, the Executive 
Member for Finance & Delivery explained that the Council did not have a 
specific budget for unsightly sites due to the unknown factor of Government 
funding year on year. However, funding had been allocated in various areas 
of the budget, in particular, in the Place Portfolio within the Inclusive Growth 

6



Council
21 February 2019

4

Action By
Reserve.  He explained that it was impossible to allocate a specific amount for 
such matters as the costs were unknown and ultimately, the Council could be 
criticised for either over spending or under spending if a specific budget had 
been allocated.  

In terms of the budget, the Executive Director of Commercialisation & S151 
Officer explained that there was a history for this authority having to deal with 
some difficult sites and funds had been allocated for works/legal costs 
accordingly; this funding could be either a one-off or for more minor cases, 
funding would be utilised from existing budgets.  The Executive Director of 
Place advised that most of these matters were part of the day job across the 
Communities Team and the Planning & Enforcement Team; however, if in a 
particular case, a more significant spend was required, Cabinet would be 
approached to request additional funds from the Inclusive Growth Fund.  

 In response to Councillor Dimoglou’s second question in relation to the 
Council Tax increase, the Executive Member for Finance & Delivery explained 
that this authority had been given the opportunity 4 years ago to look, as a low 
taxing authority, how it could increase its Council Tax - given that all 
authorities were facing significant funding cuts from Central Government.  
Council Tax had been increased which had been a wise choice by this 
authority as it had been able to counter the reduction in Rate Support Grant 
and, looking ahead, had put itself in a better position to minimise the impact of 
the New Homes Bonus being lost which was likely to come into effect in 2020. 
This modest increase in monetary terms worked out to be an additional £4.95 
per annum for people living in a Band D property; therefore, in response to 
Councillor Dimoglou’s second part of his question, 77% of Breckland’s 
residents did not live in a Band D property, most lived in Bands A to C and 
again, in monetary terms, the actual increase which the Council would expect 
them to pay was less than £2 per annum.  This minimal increase, in his 
opinion, would not cause anyone a huge problem financially over the year 
particularly given the quality of the services that the Council provided and 
more importantly, aiming to improve the quality of life for people within its 
market towns and in its rural areas.

Councillor Brindle asked Councillor Bambridge, the Executive Member for Growth a 
question that he had drawn his attention to at a previous Council meeting about an 
issue in Glebe Close, Thetford in relation to long drawn out concerns of below 
standard private landlord housing.   He asked if the Executive Member could confirm 
that there would be an internal review of this incident to establish if any lessons had 
been learnt in the way Breckland Council dealt with such matters.  In response, 
Councillor Bambridge advised that in respect of the issue raised previously, the 
Council had dealt with it and had visited the building in question and on 8th February 
2019, urgent prohibition orders had been issued on 3 of the 4 dwellings.  Then on 
13th February, the Council issued improvement notices on all 4 of the dwellings for a 
range of hazards resulting in a multi-disciplinary meeting being held which included 
the Fire Service; this had proved to be very useful as very recently, a serious fire had 
broken out in the building and the people from one of the flats had been re-housed 
even though that particular flat had not been one of the flats considered to be unfit for 
human habitation. As from 20 February, an update had not been provided as it was 
still considered to be a crime scene of possible arson. Regarding the internal review, 
one had taken place which he had not been party to but he would be receiving an 
update at his Portfolio meeting. Once out of Police hands and the building was back 
with the Landlord, this authority would be conducting a review by which time he would 
be happy to answer any more questions.  In the meantime, regular Landlord Forums 
were taking place in order to improve the quality of living standards.  

7



Council
21 February 2019

5

Action By

Councillor Jermy directed his question to Councillor Robinson, the Executive Member 
for Governance.  He stated that Norfolk County Council was now live-streaming its 
meetings, particularly the Cabinet meetings, which he felt was a really useful way of 
encouraging public scrutiny and holding elected Members to account.  He asked if 
there were any plans for Breckland to follow suit and install such a facility once the 
new Council, following the Elections, was underway.  Councillor Robinson pointed out 
that Breckland Council’s facilities were currently undergoing a review to become 
more user friendly going forward and live streaming was being considered.

25/19CABINET MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 8) 

Members were informed that the recommendation on page 18 of the agenda pack 
would be taken under agenda item 11 (Minute No. 08/19 refers).

RESOLVED that the unconfirmed Minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 5 February 
2019 be adopted.

26/19OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMISSION (AGENDA ITEM 9) 

Members were informed that the recommendation on page 25 of the agenda pack 
would be taken under agenda item 14 (Minute No. 08/19 refers).

RESOLVED that the unconfirmed Minutes of the Overview & Scrutiny Commission 
meeting held on 31 January 2019 be adopted.

27/19PLANNING COMMITTEE (AGENDA ITEM 10) 

Local Plan Update (Minute No. 7/19)

Councillor Borrett raised a concern as he had noticed that the Local Plan consultation 
had already begun.  He reminded Members that when Full Council endorsed the 
modification document consultation to be progressed, reservations from Members 
had been expressed as to the form of the amendments that the Planning Inspector 
had made.  Councillor Borrett believed that it had been the wish of Members that the 
Council expresses its concerns as part of the consultation and that these be 
circulated so that Members could share this information with their Parish Councils.  In 
response, the Deputy Leader, Councillor Sam Chapman-Allen advised that he had 
worked with the Executive Member for Growth and a statement would be produced in 
conjunction with the Executive Director of Commercialisation to pick up the 
comments that had been raised at the December Full Council meeting.  This 
statement would then be circulated to Members and Parish Councils in due course. 
He reminded Members that there was also an opportunity for all Members to respond 
during the consultation process.

Adoption

RESOLVED that the confirmed Minutes of the Planning Committee meeting held on 
14 January 2019 be adopted.

28/19BUDGET, MEDIUM TERM PLAN AND CAPITAL STRATEGY 2019-20 (AGENDA 
ITEM 11) 

Councillor Cowen, the Executive Member for Finance & Delivery presented the 
report. 

8



Council
21 February 2019

6

Action By
All Members had been given the opportunity to follow the budget process from the 
start.  The draft budget papers had been considered by Cabinet at its meeting on 27 
November 2018.  The report was then taken to the Overview & Scrutiny Commission 
meeting followed by the public consultation period held during December which 
finished in January 2019.  At the recent Cabinet meeting in February, Members were 
provided with an updated paper and this Full Council meeting was the final stage of 
the budget process.  As it was such a significant and important issue for the Council 
and for its residents, the Executive Member for Finance & Delivery hoped that all 
Members had taken the opportunity to read the final report thoroughly.  

Attention was drawn to page 41 of the agenda pack where the ten recommendations 
were highlighted. The Executive Member for Finance & Delivery pointed out that this 
budget was an incredibly positive budget for any Council to review and this authority 
had achieved a budget, going forward, that was balanced and would provide the 
Council with Reserves with which it could support its local communities.  He 
conveyed his thanks to the Officers involved for all their hard work and commitment 
and commended the budget to Members. 

Prior to any questions being asked and in response to the Chairman, Members 
agreed to take the 10 recommendations enbloc. The Chairman also reminded 
Members that under the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2014, a recorded vote must be taken.

Councillor Jermy raised the following points.  

The Labour Group took its role very seriously within the Council; it raised 
opportunities when needed whilst also giving praise where it was due.  The Group 
also highlighted matters that could be lacking, not for the sake of it, but in the hope 
that it might be able to make some improvements. Looking back at last year’s Labour 
Group proposals, despite not being carried, Councillor Jermy had been really pleased 
to see some amendments around street lights where many had been or were being 
replaced with LED energy efficient lamps which had been welcomed.  

Similarly, another amendment proposed in the previous year, was to increase the 
availability of affordable housing which again was defeated; however, there had been 
a marked improvement in the focus of affordable housing that could be seen within 
the Annual Monitoring report and it had been confirmed that over 28% of housing 
within the District were affordable which again was to be welcomed.  

Another proposal in relation to tourism had been put forward in the previous year 
asking for £5k for each of the market towns to invest in tourism information services, 
again this was voted down; however, a few months later ShopAppy was launched but 
he understood that it would cost more than the Group’s initial proposal.    Its impact 
remained to be seen and he would remain sceptical as he would much rather have 
seen locally based community solutions.  He hoped that the Council recognised, in 
time, that tourism brought a great deal to the District and invest accordingly. 

Turning to this year’s budget, Councillor Jermy pointed out that it was not many years 
ago that this Council prided itself on having the lowest Council Tax and whilst it was 
still relatively low, it could not be denied that it had increased significantly.  In his 
Ward alone, people were now paying 25% more Council Tax than they were 10 years 
ago and this was before this year’s increase had been factored in.  People on low 
incomes were struggling financially and Council Tax was the one bill that they 
struggled with the most.  The responsibility to fund local council services had shifted 
from local government to local people.  Councillor Jermy did not like Council Tax, he 
thought it was an unfair tax and he hoped at some point in the future it would be 

9



Council
21 February 2019

7

Action By
reformed but if he was to vote for this budget by default to increase the Council Tax, 
he wanted assurance that those people on low incomes would not suffer as a result.  
As a Council, pensioners were protected by being provided with 100% relief but 
approximately 4,500 people on a low income, including work age disabled residents, 
were only being supported at a maximum of 92%.  Therefore, if he was to support he 
would like to see a relatively small amount of money of £40k to ensure individuals of 
working age were supported up to 100% of their Breckland share of the Council tax.  
He was aware that this proposal could not be enacted immediately but asked if it 
could be actioned via the Localised Council Tax Reduction Scheme and he proposed 
that a budget allocation be requested.  

This proposal was seconded by Councillor Clarke who applauded the work of the 
Executive Member for Finance and the finance staff; however, people were paying 
more Council Tax for less services and he echoed Councillor Jermy’s comments. 

The proposal was not supported.

The Leader felt that Councillor Jermy had raised an interesting point and was pleased 
that he recognised that Breckland was a listening Council in the sense that street 
lighting concerns had been picked up and that its focus remained on affordable 
housing.  He completely understood the Labour Group’s concerns in that the Council 
was doing all that it could, as rate support grants were being reduced, for those 
people that were without doubt finding this a difficult time.  However, this was 
happening across the whole public sector, doing what they could to make their 
budgets work. It was not an easy time and was probably more difficult now than it had 
ever been and he assured all Members that whilst the Labour Group’s proposal was 
not supported, this authority would do all that it could to ensure that it supported 
those who needed it most.

Councillor Taylor was aware that the Government had stated that if £39billion could 
be saved, £60m would be repaid to each constituency and wanted to know that if this 
was the case, would the Council be able to revise this budget in lieu of this possible 
decision.  The Leader felt that the chances of getting a rebate from Central 
Government were very slim but if it were to happen, then he had no doubt that the 
budget would be reviewed.

Councillor Clarke asked the Executive Member for Finance & Delivery not for an 
amendment but a marker for future years or a strategy for 2023.  The Council was 
very good at planning for the future and he asked what the Council was considering 
to do with its Planning resource once the Capita contract had come to an end and the 
implications of bringing Planning back in-house.  Although this question did not relate 
to finance, the Leader advised that the Council was in the process of reviewing all of 
its contracts, and as and when any contracts were due to be reviewed, the Officers in 
question, and indeed Members, would work very hard to ensure the best possible use 
of money and the best product for the Council’s communities.

Councillor Ian Sherwood asked the Executive Member for Finance & Delivery 
questions in relation to the budget.  The first question was in respect of the Council 
Tax setting and how much the Council asked its residents to pay for services, and the 
second question related to the Council Tax income, and what it enabled the Council 
to do.  He also asked if the Executive Member could provide him with some idea of 
how much money had been spent on services that the Council provided.  The 
Executive Member for Finance & Delivery was happy to respond and drew attention 
to page 127 of the agenda pack where it showed a schedule of Council Tax levels 
from a Band A through to Band H.  This information provided an indication of how 
much each resident in each of those Bands was paying in Breckland.  He pointed out 

10



Council
21 February 2019

8

Action By
that the Council’s Band D proposal was a little under £90 per annum and for that £90, 
the Council was delivering about £500 worth of services to everyone who paid 
Council Tax.  The Executive Member for Finance & Delivery drew attention to the fact 
that those in a Band A at Norfolk County Council level were being charged a great 
deal more than £59 as in Breckland; therefore, in terms of value for money, this 
Council delivered to its residents a benefit of paying £500 for £90 or £500 for £60 
which he felt was very good value for money.

Regarding the issue of Council Tax, Councillor Borrett had been quite surprised at 
some of Councillor Jermy’s points raised as the Band D charge in Breckland was a 
lot less than in the Labour controlled Norwich City Council.  Norwich City Council was 
not charging £90 it was charging £264 for the same kinds of service that residents 
received in Breckland.  Breckland Council was trying to keep its Council Tax down 
and its services protected so that those less able to pay could still afford to pay.  
Norwich City Council had put their Council tax up by 3% this year which was an 
increase in cash terms of £40 for every Band D Tax Band.  In response, Councillor 
Jermy reported that Norwich City Council did offer discounts to the most vulnerable in 
their society.  He also pointed out that the cost for his Band C house was overall, 
including the Police & Norfolk County Council’s share, the same as a Band C house 
under Norwich City Council.

The 10 recommendations were proposed and seconded and following a recorded 
vote it was:

RESOLVED that:

1) the Breckland revenue estimates and parish special expenses for 2019-20 and 
outlined position through to 2022-23 (as set out in Appendix B and E of the 
report) be approved;

2) the capital estimates and associated funding for 2019-20 and outline position 
through to 2022-23 (as set out in Appendix H of the report) be approved;

3) the fees and charges shown at Appendix D and D2 of the report, for adoption 
on 1 April 2019 be approved;

4) the Council Tax be set at £88.83 for a Band D property in 2019-20 (a £4.95 per 
annum increase on 2018-19 levels);

5) the Financial Medium Term Plan and associated staffing full time equivalents at 
Appendix A of the report be approved;

6) the Capital Strategy at Appendix G of the report be approved.

7) the Business Rates relief for retail business premises contained in the 
guidelines at appendix I of the report be approved (this is offset by a 
Government grant);

8) the additional one off income generated from the 2019-20 75% Business Rates 
Pilot scheme be set aside, 50% in the Growth and Investment Reserve to fund 
future feasibilities and funding applications and 50% to the General Fund (as 
detailed in paragraph 1.10 of the report); 

9) the establishment be increased by 1.0 FTE (shared with SHDC at 60% BC and 
40% SHDC) to create a post that adds capacity to support the Chief Executive 
and Directors at a senior level to move forward a number of strategic priorities 

11



Council
21 February 2019

9

Action By
and help to identify the key impacts of emerging national and local policy on the 
organisation(s) from a corporate point of view, enabling effective mitigation as 
required (as detailed in paragraph 1.9 of the report); and

10) the full time equivalent be increased by 5.0 FTE in ARP as agreed at ARP Joint 
Committee on 4 December 2018 (as detailed in paragraph 1.9 of the report) 
where the costs are fully offset by additional income and shared between the 
other partners.

RECORDED VOTES:
MEMBER FOR AGAINST MEMBER FOR AGAINST
Mr Ashby X Mr Joel X
Mr Askew X Mr Kybird X
Mr Bambridge X Mr Martin X
Mr Brame X Mrs Matthews X
Mr Borrett X Mrs Millbank ABSENT
Councillor Bowes x Mrs Monument X
Mr Brindle x Mr Monument X
Mr Carter X Mr Nairn X
Councillor Marion Chapman-
Allen

X Mr Nunn X

Mr Sam Chapman-Allen x Mr Oliver APOLOGIES
Mr Clarke x Mr Robert Richmond X
Mr Claussen X Mr William Richmond APOLOGIES
Mr Cowen X Mr Robinson X
Mr Crawford x Mr Rogers X
Mr Darby APOLOGIES Mr Sharpe X
Mr Dimoglou X Mr Sherwood X
Mr Duffield X Mr Smith X
Mr Duigan X Mr Stasiak X
Mr Gilbert X Mr Taylor X
Councillor Gould X Mrs Turner X
Mrs Hewett X Mr Wassell X
Mr Hewett X Mrs Webb X
Mrs Hollis APOLOGIES Mr Wilkin X
Mr Jermy X Mr Wilkinson X

29/19COUNCIL TAX SETTING 2019-20 (AGENDA ITEM 12) 

Councillor Cowen, the Executive Member for Finance & Delivery presented the 
Council Tax setting report and commended the two recommendations to Council.

The Chairman again reminded Members that if they were two months or more in 
arrears with their Council Tax, they must disclose the fact and not vote on any item to 
set tax or any decision which may affect its calculation.

A recorded vote was taken and it was:

RESOLVED that:

1. the special expenses for 2019-20 (at paragraph 1.3 of the report) be 
approved; and

2. the formal Council Tax resolutions for 2019-20 (at paragraph 1.4.1 to 1.4.5 
of the report as set out below) be approved.

1.4.1 It is to be noted that on 21 February 2019 the Council has calculated: -
a) the Council Tax Base 2019-20 for the whole Council area as 43,479.8 (item 
T in the regulations made under Section 33(5) of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1992, as amended) and

12



Council
21 February 2019

10

Action By
b) for dwellings in those parts of its area to which a Parish precept relates as 
in the attached Appendix A.

1.4.2 Calculate that the Council Tax requirement for the Council’s own purposes for 
2019-20 (excluding Parish precepts) is £3,933,183.

1.4.3 That the following amounts be calculated by the Council for the year 2019-20 
in accordance with Sections 31 to 36 of the Local Government Finance Act 
1992 as amended (the Act):-

a) £78,582,320 being the aggregate of the amounts which the Council 
estimates for the expenditure items set out in Section 31A(2) 
of the Act;

b) £70,632,356 being the aggregate of the amounts which the Council 
estimates for the income items set out in Section 31A(3) of the 
Act;

c) £7,949,964 being the amount by which the aggregate at 1.4.3(a) above 
exceeds the aggregate at 1.4.3(b) above, calculated by the 
Council, in accordance with Section 31A(4) of the Act, as its 
Council Tax requirement for the year;

d) £182.84 being the amount at 1.4.3(c) above, divided by the amount at 
1.4.1(a) above, calculated by the Council, in accordance with 
Section 31B(1) of the Act, as the basic amount of its Council 
Tax for the year (including Parish precepts);

e) £4,087,653 being the aggregate amount of all special items (including 
Parish precepts) referred to in Section 34(1) of the Act (as per 
Appendix A of the agenda);

f) £88.83 being the amount at 1.4.3(d) above less the result given by 
dividing the amount at 1.4.3(e) above by the amount at 
1.4.1(a) above, calculated by the Council, in accordance with 
Section 34(2) of the Act, as the basic amount of its Council 
Tax for the year for dwellings in those parts of its areas to 
which no special item relates;

g) The figures shown in Appendix B of the agenda, being the amounts given by 
adding to the amount at 1.4.3(f) above the amounts of the special item or 
items relating to dwellings in those parts of the Council's area mentioned 
above divided in each case by the amount at 1.4.1(b) above, calculated by 
the Council, in accordance with Section 34(3) of the Act, as the basic 
amounts of its Council Tax for the year for dwellings in those parts of its area 
to which one or more special items relate;

h) The figures shown in Appendix C of the agenda, being the amounts given by 
multiplying the amounts at 1.4.3(f) and 1.4.3(g) above by the number which, 
in the proportion set out in Section 5(1) of the Act, is applicable to dwellings 
listed in a particular valuation band divided by the number which in that 
proportion is applicable to dwellings listed in valuation band D, calculated by 
the Council, in accordance with Section 36(1) of the Act as the amounts to be 
taken into account for the year in respect of categories of dwellings listed in 
different valuation bands.

13



Council
21 February 2019

11

Action By

1.4.4 That it be noted that for the year 2019-20 the Norfolk County Council and 
Norfolk Police & Crime Commissioner have stated the following amounts in 
precepts issued to the Council, in accordance with Section 40 of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992, for each of the categories of dwellings 
shown below:-

Band Band Band Band
A B C D

NCC £908.16 £1,059.52 £1,210.88 £1,362.24
NPCC £168.72 £196.84 £224.96 £253.08

Band Band Band Band 
E F G H

NCC £1,664.96 £1,967.68 £2,270.40 £2,724.48
NPCC £309.32 £365.56 £421.80 £506.16

1.4.5 That having calculated the aggregate in each case the amounts at 1.4.3(h) 
and 1.4.4 above, the Council, in accordance with Section 30(2) of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992, hereby sets the amounts shown in 
Appendix D of the agenda as the amount of Council Tax for 2019-20 of the 
categories of dwellings shown.

RECORDED VOTES:
MEMBER FOR AGAINST MEMBER FOR AGAINST
Mr Ashby X Mr Joel X
Mr Askew X Mr Kybird X
Mr Bambridge X Mr Martin X
Mr Brame X Mrs Matthews X
Mr Borrett X Mrs Millbank ABSENT
Councillor Bowes x Mrs Monument X
Mr Brindle x Mr Monument X
Mr Carter X Mr Nairn X
Councillor Marion 
Chapman-Allen

X Mr Nunn X

Mr Sam Chapman-
Allen

x Mr Oliver APOLOGIES

Mr Clarke x Mr Robert 
Richmond

X

Mr Claussen X Mr William 
Richmond

APOLOGIES

Mr Cowen X Mr Robinson X
Mr Crawford x Mr Rogers X
Mr Darby APOLOGIES Mr Sharpe X
Mr Dimoglou X Mr Sherwood X
Mr Duffield X Mr Smith X
Mr Duigan X Mr Stasiak X
Mr Gilbert x Mr Taylor X
Councillor Gould X Mrs Turner X
Mrs Hewett X Mr Wassell X
Mr Hewett X Mrs Webb X
Mrs Hollis APOLOGIES Mr Wilkin X
Mr Jermy X Mr Wilkinson X

30/19CORPORATE PLAN 2019-2023 (AGENDA ITEM 13) 

The Deputy Leader & Executive Member for Corporate Strategy and Investment, 
Councillor Sam Chapman-Allen presented the Corporate Plan for the period 2019-
2023 to Council for adoption.

14



Council
21 February 2019

12

Action By
The Deputy Leader thanked all Members and Officers within the authority for their 
input throughout this process.  The layout and design had been changed and it had a 
strategic vision throughout being ‘Breckland: A place where people and business can 
thrive’ and he felt that the budget presentation that everyone had seen had reinforced 
some of those opportunities and successes over the last four years.  The Corporate 
Plan was fundamentally linked to all aspects of the Council and was classed as the 
‘golden thread’ that linked its strategic vision to its four Corporate Priorities – Your 
Place, Your Health & Wellbeing, Your opportunity and Our Council.

Councillor Duigan felt that although the A47 had been highlighted on page 140 as an 
aspiration, it should have been included on page 142 under the priority: Your 
Opportunity, with an extra line similar to that of the Cambridge Norwich Tech 
Corridor.  The Deputy Leader was more than happy to take this iteration forward if 
Members were content with this amendment. 

Councillor Jermy thanked the Deputy Leader for the new Corporate Plan.  He liked 
the new layout and the format and was pleased with what it contained; however, the 
two matters that he felt were missing were; firstly, the environment specifically around 
climate change which he felt would be an increasing issue over the coming years 
and, how this authority sought to minimise its own impact on the environment and 
reduce its carbon footprint.  He felt that environmental issues ran across all four 
priorities and this would be a missed opportunity for the Council. Secondly, he would 
have preferred to see not just more jobs but better paid jobs in the District to allow 
people to have a better quality of life and work-life balance and he did not believe that 
the report was strong enough in that respect.  In response, the Deputy Leader 
reminded Members of the ‘golden thread’ that ran throughout all four priorities within 
the Corporate Plan and mentioned what the Council was doing for vision setting in 
relation to business growth in the District that was discussed at the last Cabinet 
meeting.  Therefore, as much as the Corporate Plan did not detail it directly and 
would be inappropriate to do so, the vision setting for Business Growth and the 
Corporate Plan, both linked the Council’s aspiration for moving forward and he 
thanked Councillor Jermy for his support at the last Cabinet meeting in relation to the 
Thetford Enterprise Park.  As far as the environment was concerned, he would be 
more than happy to take that back and carry out further iteration to the introductory 
piece in relation to the Council trying to reduce its carbon footprint.

Councillor Kybird mentioned the lack of support for the military covenant within the 
Corporate Plan.  At a previous Overview & Scrutiny Commission meeting the 
Executive Member in attendance had promised to raise this with the appropriate 
person.  The Deputy Leader confirmed that at the next Full Council meeting he would 
be presenting a report on the Norfolk Armed Forces Covenant and the paper would 
highlight what the Council would be undertaking moving forward.

Subject to the aforementioned changes, it was:

RESOLVED that the new Corporate Plan for the period 2019-20 be adopted.

31/19PAY POLICY STATEMENT 2019/20 (AGENDA ITEM 14) 

Councillor Alison Webb, the Executive Member for People & Information presented 
the report.  The Pay Policy Statement was a statutory requirement and had already 
been considered by the Overview & Scrutiny Commission at its meeting on 31 
January 2019.

RESOLVED that the Pay Policy Statement be approved.

15



Council
21 February 2019

13

Action By

32/19GENDER PAY GAP REPORT (AGENDA ITEM 15) 

Councillor Alison Webb, the Executive Member for People & Information presented 
the report.  The Gender Pay Gap report had already been considered by the 
Overview & Scrutiny Commission at its meeting on 31 January 2019. 

RESOLVED that the Gender Pay Gap report be uploaded onto the Government 
website in accordance with the Gender Pay Gap Information Regulations 2017.

33/19NOMINATIONS FOR COMMITTEE AND OTHER SEATS (AGENDA ITEM 16) 

None.

34/19AMENDMENTS TO THE CONSTITUTION (AGENDA ITEM 17) 

None.

35/19ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE URGENT (AGENDA 
ITEM 18) 

None.

The meeting closed at 11.05 am

CHAIRMAN

16



Engagement List – Chairman
20 February – 14 March 2019

Date Event Host
24 February 2019 Civic Service Chairman of South Norfolk, 

Councillor John Overton
28 February 2019 Lincoln Lecture Head Teacher & Governors

Wymondham College
01 March 2019 Chairman’s Reception Chairman of South Holland

Councillor Rodney Grocock

Engagement List – Vice-Chairman
20 February - 14 March 2019

Date Event Host
13 March 2019 Dedication Service WWII Memorial Chairman of South Holland 

Councillor Rodney Grocock

17

A
genda Item

 4



BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

PLANNING COMMITTEE

Held on Monday, 11 February 2019 at 9.30 am in
Anglia Room, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham

PRESENT
Mr N.C. Wilkin (Chairman)
Mr W. R. J. Richmond (Vice-
Chairman)
Councillor M. Chapman-Allen
Mr H. E. J. Clarke
Mrs J. Hollis
Mr A.P. Joel

Mr K. Martin
Mr F.J. Sharpe
Mr P. S. Wilkinson
Mr P. R. W. Darby (Substitute Member)
Mr M. J. Nairn (Substitute Member)

Also Present
Mr S.G. Bambridge (Ward 
Representative)
Mr P.D. Claussen (Ward 
Representative)
Mr J.P. Cowen (Ward 
Representative)

Mr R.W. Duffield (Ward Representative)
Mr W.H.C. Smith (Ward Representative)

In Attendance
Michael Horn Solicitor to the Council
Jon Berry Head of Development Management
Rebecca Collins Head of Major Projects
Naomi Minto Development Management Planner
Tom Donnelly Development Management Assistant
Fiona Hunter Principal Development Management Planner
Mark Simmonds Principal DM Planner
Natalie Wicks Planning Assistant
Joe Barrow Planning Graduate
Julie Britton Democratic Services Officer

 

Action By
12/19MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 1) 

The Minutes of the meeting held on 14 January 2019 were confirmed as a correct 
record and signed by the Chairman.

13/19APOLOGIES & SUBSTITUTES (AGENDA ITEM 2) 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Bowes, Brame and Duigan.

Substitutes in attendance were Councillors Darby and Nairn.

14/19DECLARATION OF INTEREST AND OF REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED 
(AGENDA ITEM 3) 

Agenda item 9(c): Banham: Grove Road: Reference: 3PL/2018/1102/O

Members had received direct correspondence in relation to the above 
application.

18

Agenda Item 8



Planning Committee
11 February 2019

Action By

Agenda item 9(k): Gressenhall: Reference: 3PL/2018/1126/F

Councillor Richard Duffield as the Ward Representative in attendance to speak in 
support of the application, declared an interest in this item due to him carrying out 
work for GT Bunning & Sons Ltd as a builder.  Councillor Duffield left the room 
whilst this item was being discussed and voted upon.

15/19CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (AGENDA ITEM 4) 

The Chairman thanked the Members for attending the recent site visits in Great 
Ellingham.  A further site visit was being arranged to take place in North 
Pickenham.

Members were asked to make a note in their diaries for the following matters:

 Monday, 04 March 2019 – site visit in Attleborough to leave from 
Elizabeth House at 10am – a minibus has been arranged.

 Monday, 11 March 2019 – Planning Committee meeting to start at 
10.00am to allow for the Commonwealth Flag to be raised at 9.15am

 Friday, 15 March 2019 – Additional Planning Committee meeting to take 
place in the Connaught Hall, Attleborough – start time to be confirmed.

16/19REQUESTS TO DEFER APPLICATIONS INCLUDED IN THIS AGENDA 
(AGENDA ITEM 5) 

Item 9(n): Hockham: Reference: 3PL/2018/1392/D

Deferred at the request of the applicant.

Item 9(u): Watton: Reference: 3PL/2018/1398/O

Withdrawn at the request of the applicant.

17/19URGENT BUSINESS (AGENDA ITEM 6) 

None.

18/19LOCAL PLAN UPDATE (STANDING ITEM) (AGENDA ITEM 7) 

The Local Plan modification document was being prepared for a six week 
consultation period which was likely to start at the end of this week or the 
beginning of next - week commencing 18 February 2019.

19/19DEFERRED APPLICATIONS (AGENDA ITEM 8) 

The Schedule of Deferred Applications was noted.

20/19SCHEDULE OF PLANNING APPLICATIONS (AGENDA ITEM 9) 

RESOLVED that the applications be determined as follows:

(a) Ashill: Land off Watton Road: Reference: 3PL/2018/1250/F  

Proposed 2 no. detached dwellings, garaging, access drive and amenity space.

19



Planning Committee
11 February 2019

Action By

Consideration was given to the application presented by Tom Donnelly, 
Development Management Assistant.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Applicant’s Agent: Jason Barber (Studio 35) 

Objector: Nonie Harrie’s

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report.

(b) Attleborough: Land to rear of White Pillars, London Road: Reference: 
3PL/2018/1214/O  

Erection of 1 detached dwelling and garage.

Consideration was given to the application presented by Fiona Hunter, Principal 
Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

No representations were made in respect of the application.

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report.

(c) Banham: Grove Road: Reference: 3PL/2018/1102/O  

Outline application for residential development.

Consideration was given to the outline application presented by Rebecca Collins, 
head of Major Projects.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Members had received direct correspondence in relation to the above application

Further representations had been included in the supplementary agenda (see 
page 244).

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Applicant’s Agent: Jon Jennings (Cheffins)

Banham Parish Council: Geraldine Sayers Cowper (Clerk)

Objector: Valerie Plummer

DECISION: Members voted 8 x 1 for approval as recommended subject to:
20



Planning Committee
11 February 2019

Action By

1. the conditions as listed in the report;
2. a response being received from Norfolk County Council concerning 

required education/library contributions;
3. an agreement by the applicant to pay any such reasonable 

contributions as requested by Norfolk County Council; and
4. the requirements of the S106 Agreement as listed in the report.

(d) Bawdeswell: Land off Hall Road: Reference: 3PL/2018/0993/F  

Residential development of 40 no. units (20% affordable) comprising a mix of 
housing types, accommodating open space and appropriate associated 
infrastructure with vehicle access via Hall Road.

Consideration was given to the application presented by Rebecca Collins, Head 
of Major Projects.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Further representations had been included in the supplementary agenda (see 
page 245).

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Ward Representative: Councillor Gordon Bambridge (in support)

Applicant’s Agent: Paul LeGrice and Tony Abel (Abel Homes)

Bawdeswell Parish Council: Bill Cunliffe (Chairman)

Objectors: Barbara Consadine, Jacqueline Revitt & 
David Atkins

DECISION: Members voted 8 x 1 for approval as recommended subject to 
the conditions as listed in the report; and subject to a S106 Agreement to 
secure:

1. 20% affordable housing;
2. a library and education contribution; and
3. an acceptable open space provision.

(e) Garvestone: Thuxton Grange, Dereham Road, Thuxton: Reference: 
3PL/2018/1309/O  

Erection of 3 bed detached bungalow with separate double garage.

Consideration was given to the outline application presented by Naomi Minto, 
Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

21



Planning Committee
11 February 2019

Action By

Ward Representative: Councillor Paul Claussen (in support)

Applicant: Francois Ruiz

Objector: Matthew Parker

DECISION: Members voted 8 x 2 for approval, contrary to the Officer’s 
recommendation of refusal.

REASON(S): the site was in a sustainable location and would make a small 
contribution to the Council’s 5 year housing land supply and did not 
intrude into the open countryside.

DECISION: Members voted 8 x 2 for approval.

The application be approved subject to delegated authority being granted 
to the Executive Director of Place to agree and impose appropriate 
conditions.

(f) Gooderstone: The Street: Reference: 3PL/2018/1264/F  

Erection of one and half storey dwelling and garage.

Consideration was given to the application presented by Mark Simmonds, 
Principal Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Ward Representative: Councillor Mike Nairn (in support)

Applicant: Chris Palmer (to answer question only)

Applicant’s Agent: Tony Evans (Sketcher Partnership)

Gooderstone Parish Council: Stephen Carter (Chairman)

DECISION: Members voted 7 x 2 for approval contrary to the Officer’s 
recommendation of refusal.

REASON(S): in comparison to the Planning application and the Appeal 
history, the reduction in the number of dwellings from 2 to 1, and the 
current contribution the proposal would make to the Council’s 5 year 
housing land supply, is considered to be acceptable in the re-balancing 
exercise.

DECISION: Members voted 8 x 1 for approval.

The application be approved subject to delegated authority being granted 
to the Executive Director of Place to agree and impose appropriate 
conditions.

22



Planning Committee
11 February 2019

Action By

(g) Great Ellingham: Land adjacent to 'The Bungalow' Bow Street: Reference: 
3PL/2018/1475/F  

Construction of a single detached dwelling and garage/cart lodge (self-build 
dwelling).

Consideration was given to the application presented by Tom Donnelly, 
Development Management Assistant.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Further representations had been included in the supplementary agenda (see 
page 246).

A representation was made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Great Ellingham Parish Council: Tim Betts (Chairman)

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended 
subject to the amendment to the Highway condition in accordance with the 
revised plan.

(h) Great Ellingham: Mellor Metals, Attleborough Road: Reference: 
3OB/2018/0001/OB  

Amendment to S106 Agreement (planning obligation)

Consideration was given to the application presented by Fiona Hunter, Principal 
Development Manager.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

All Members had received direct correspondence in relation to this application.

Further representations had been included in the supplementary agenda (see 
page 247).

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Applicant: Shane Mellor

Applicant’s Agent: Alan Presslee (Cornerstone Planning)

Consultant: Martin Aust (Pathfinder Development 
Consultants)

Great Ellingham Parish Council: Tim Betts (Chairman)

DECISION: Members voted 8 x 1 to allow the amendment to the S106 
Agreement as recommended.

23



Planning Committee
11 February 2019

Action By

(i) Great Ellingham: Land between Hingham Road and Watton Road: Reference: 
3PL/2018/0852/F  

Residential development plus a new village shop, village hall and allotments.

Consideration was given to the application presented by Fiona Hunter, Principal 
Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Further representations had been included in the supplementary agenda (see 
page 248).

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Ward Representative: Councillor William Smith (in support)

Applicant’s Agents: John Barbuck (Patterson Design Ltd) and 
Ashley Crawton

Great Ellingham Parish Council: Tim Betts (Chairman)

Objector: David Palmer

DECISION: Members voted 8 x 1 for approval as recommended subject to:

1. the conditions as listed in the report; and
2. a S106 Agreement to secure:

 14 retirement units for the 55 and overs;
 2,200sqm of Village Hall land and contribution of £368,000 

towards the construction costs;
 one retail unit;
 one local equipped play area of Play, one outdoor sports 

area, two open spaces and seven allotments as per the 
proposed layout plan;

 an early year education contribution of £151,372, 50% due on 
occupation of 40% of the dwellings and final 50% due on 
occupation of 75% of the dwellings;

 a primary education contribution of £407,540, 50% due on 
occupation of 40% of the dwellings and final 50% due on 
occupation of 75% of the dwellings;

 a £500,000 contribution to NCC Highways for use towards off-
site road infrastructure - preferred project a roundabout at 
the junction of Hingham Road/Watton Road/Chequers Lane;

 an NHS contribution of £55,000 - preferred project towards 
upgrade of the existing facilities or re-provision of 
infrastructure for the benefit of the patients of Queens Square 
Surgery (Attleborough);

 a library contribution of £75 per dwelling;
 4 x fire hydrants (to be conditioned rather than included 

within the S106 Agreement);
 allotments; 
 an ecology strip; and
 off-site footpaths from the new Village Hall site to the existing 

24



Planning Committee
11 February 2019

Action By

Village Hall, and a second footpath from the retirement units 
to the existing Village Hall.

(j) Great Ellingham: Land at Hingham Road/ Attleborough Road: Reference: 
3PL/2018/1021/F  

Residential development of 95 dwellings together with associated access, 
parking, landscaping and open space.

Consideration was given to the application presented by Fiona Hunter, Principal 
Development Management Planner.  The Principal Development Management 
Planner clarified that no open space was proposed.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Further representations had been included in the supplementary agenda (see 
page 249).

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Ward Representative: Councillor William Smith (in support)

Applicant: Michael Cramp (Flagship Homes)

Applicant’s Agent: Jason Parker (Parker Planning)

Great Ellingham Parish Council: Tim Betts (Chairman)

Objector: Carey Moore

DECISION: Members voted 8 x 1 for approval as recommended subject to:

1. the conditions as listed in the report and in the supplementary 
report; and

2. a S106 Agreement to secure:
 16 affordable rent units;
 a viability review after 3 years;
 1,522sqm of land to be dedicated to highways before works 

above slab level;
 a wildlife mitigation area; and
 2 x fire hydrants (to be conditioned rather than included 

within the S106 Agreement).

(k) Gressenhall: Smithy House, The Green: Reference: 3PL/2018/1126/F  

1 no. 116x60.8m steel portal frame building, associated concrete hardstanding 
and drainage.

Consideration was given to the application presented by Rebecca Collins, Head 
of Major Projects.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

25



Planning Committee
11 February 2019

Action By

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Ward Representative: Councillor Richard Duffield (in support)

Applicant: Greg Shepherd

Applicant’s Agent: Oliver Jones (Plandescil Ltd)

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report.

(l) Harling: Land North of Lime Kiln House, Eccles Road, East Harling: Reference: 
3PL/2018/1198/F  

Erection of four dwellings, garages and creation of new vehicular access.

Consideration was given to the application presented by Mark Simmonds, 
Principal Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

A representation was made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Applicant’s Agent: James Platt (Locus Planning

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report.

(m) Hilborough: Development Site Opp Taylor Barn, Brandon Road: Reference: 
3PL/2018/1184/O  

Residential development single dwelling.

Consideration was given to the outline application presented by Mark Simmonds, 
Principal Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

A representation was made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Applicant: Hannah Clarke 

DECISION: Members voted 6 x 3 for approval, contrary to the Officer’s 
recommendation of refusal. 

REASONS: The development was in a sustainable location; the access to 
the site was considered satisfactory and there would not be an 
unacceptable intensification of traffic to result in a highway safety issue.

DECISION: Members voted 6 x 3 for approval.

The application be approved subject to delegated authority being granted 
26



Planning Committee
11 February 2019

Action By

to the Executive Director of Place to agree and impose appropriate 
conditions.

(n) Hockham: Plot south of 8 Little Hockham Lane: Reference: 3PL/2018/1392/D  

This application had been deferred at the request of the applicant.

(o) Kilverstone: Kilverstone Landfill Site, Brettenham Corner: Reference: 
3PL/2018/0401/F  

Full planning permission application for land re-profiling to address differential 
settlement through soil recovery at Kilverstone Landfill site.

Consideration was given to the application presented by Mark Simmonds, 
Principal Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Further representations had been included in the supplementary agenda (see 
page 251).

No representations were made in respect of the application.

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended 
subject to:

1. no material planning objections being raised by Natural England; 
and

2. the conditions as listed in the report and the supplementary report.

(p) North Elmham: Dale Farm: Great Heath Road: Reference: 3PL/2018/1196/F  

Two storey & single storey side extensions, erect front porch.  Add a brick skin 
around the existing walls to match the bricks for the new extensions.

Consideration was given to the application presented by Tom Donnelly, 
Development Management Assistant.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Ward Representative: Councillor Gordon Bambridge (in support)

Applicant: Mr Hetherington

Applicant’s Agent: James Brown (J A Brown Building Services)

DECISION: Members voted 7 x 2 for refusal as recommended.

(q) Rocklands: Land Adj Laurel Bungalow Watton Road, Little Ellingham: 
Reference: 3PL/2018/1459/F  

Single storey dwelling with detached garage.
27



Planning Committee
11 February 2019

Action By

Consideration was given to the application presented by Tom Donnelly, 
Development Management Assistant.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Applicant: Andy Nixon

Applicant’s Agent: Jon Venning 

DECISION: Members voted 8 x 1 for approval, contrary to the Officer’s 
recommendation of refusal.

REASONS: This was an infill plot, not remote and had access to services 
and facilities and the development would make a small contribution to the 
Council’s 5 year housing land supply.

DECISION: Members voted 8 x 1 for approval.

The application be approved subject to delegated authority being granted 
to the Executive Director of Place to agree and impose appropriate 
conditions.

(r) Shropham: Rose Cottage Low Road: Reference: 3PL/2018/1466/O  

Outline planning permission (access only) for up to three dwellings.

Consideration was given to the outline application presented by Tom Donnelly, 
Development Management Assistant.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Ward Representative: Phil Cowen (in support)

Applicant: Peter Francis

Applicant’s Agent: David Rogers (DJR Design)

Shropham Parish Council: David Napier (Chairman) 

DECISION: Members voted 6 x 3 for approval, contrary to the Officer’s 
recommendation of refusal. 

REASONS: The access to the site was considered satisfactory and was not 
classed as dangerous; the development would not have an impact on the 
character of the area and the housing would make a small contribution to 
the Council’s housing land supply.

DECISION: Members voted 6 x 3 for approval.
28



Planning Committee
11 February 2019

Action By

The application be approved subject to delegated authority being granted 
to the Executive Director of Place to agree and impose appropriate 
conditions.

(s) Swaffham: Land north of Green Way, Ecotech Business Park: Reference: 
3PL/2018/1323/F  

New Police Station building and construction of hardstanding/landscaping, new 
access and external works.

Consideration was given to the application presented by Rebecca Collins, Head 
of Major Projects.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Further representations had been included in the supplementary agenda (see 
page 252).

No representations were made in respect of the application.

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report and in the supplementary 
report.

(t) Thetford: Kimms Belt Corner: Reference: 3OB/2018/0010/OB  

Amendment to the S106 Agreement on 3PL/2016/0379/F.

Consideration was given to the application presented by Fiona Hunter, Principal 
Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

No representations were made in respect of the application.

DECISION: Members voted unanimously to allow the amendment to the 
S106 Agreement as recommended.

(u) Watton: Land off Sharman Avenue: Reference: 3PL/2018/1398/O  

This application had been withdrawn at the request of the applicant.

(v) Weeting: Fengate Drove: Reference: 3PL/2018/0262/O  

Outline permission (with all matters reserved) for 26 dwellings with parking and 
gardens, access road, open space and drainage basin.

Consideration was given to the outline application presented by Fiona Hunter, 
Principal Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Further representations had been included in the supplementary agenda (see 
29



Planning Committee
11 February 2019

Action By

page 254).

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Applicant: Mr Hall

Applicant’s Agent: Mark Thompson (Small Fish)

Contaminated Land Consultant: Chris Hepworth

DECISION: Members voted 7 x 1 + 1 abstention for refusal as 
recommended.

21/19APPLICATIONS DETERMINED BY THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF PLACE 
(AGENDA ITEM 10) 

Noted.

22/19APPEALS SUMMARY (FOR INFORMATION) (AGENDA ITEM 11) 

Noted.

The meeting closed at 3.40 pm

CHAIRMAN

30



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

GOVERNANCE & AUDIT COMMITTEE

Held on Friday, 15 February 2019 at 10.00 am in
Norfolk Room, Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham

PRESENT
Mr W.P. Borrett (Chairman)
Mr P. S. Wilkinson (Vice-
Chairman)

Mr P.J. Hewett
Mrs L.H. Monument

Also Present
Mr J. Plaskett (Independent Lay 
Advisor)
Mrs J. Hollis (Substitute 
Member)

In Attendance
Christine Marshall - Executive Director Commercialisation 

(S151 Officer)
Ross Bangs - Corporate Improvement & Performance 

Manager (shared)
Alison Chubbock - Chief Accountant (Deputy Section 151 

Officer) (BDC)
Faye Haywood - Internal Audit Manager
Mark Hodgson - Lead Audit Partner E&Y
Julie Britton - Democratic Services Officer

Action By
Councillor John Newton  

A moments silence was held for Councillor John Newton, a former 
Member of the Governance & Audit Committee, who had recently 
passed away.

1/19 MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 1) 

The Minutes of the meeting held on 14 December 2018 were confirmed 
as correct record and signed by the Chairman subject to a change at 
Minute No. 73/18 penultimate paragraphs to read:

Mr J Plaskett informed the Committee that he was used to seeing the 
deadline dates for each recommendation when reviewing reports from 
TIAA in his other advisory role.  

Members were content with the format subject to it being noted that the 
report lacked dates/actions as previously reported by the TIAA.

2/19 ACTIONS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES (IF ANY) (STANDING ITEM) 
(AGENDA ITEM 2) 

None.

31

Agenda Item 9



Governance & Audit Committee
15 February 2019

2

Action By
3/19 APOLOGIES (AGENDA ITEM 3) 

An apology for absence was received from Councillor Mike Nairn.  
Councillor Hollis was in attendance as a substitute until the vacancy had 
been filled.

4/19 URGENT BUSINESS (AGENDA ITEM 4) 

None.

5/19 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS (AGENDA ITEM 5) 

None.

6/19 NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING (AGENDA 
ITEM 6) 

None.

7/19 TRAINING (STANDING ITEM) (AGENDA ITEM 7) 

No further training needs required until after the May Elections.

8/19 QUARTER 3 2018-19 RISK REPORT (AGENDA ITEM 8) 

Members agreed the Exclusion of Press and Public at this point of the 
meeting (see agenda item 18) to enable the Capita Risk Report (Agenda 
item 19) to be discussed with agenda item 8.

RESOLVED that under Section 100(a)(4) of the Local Government Act 
1972, the press and the public be excluded from the meeting for the 
following item of business on the grounds that it involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraphs 3 and 4 of 
Schedule 12A to the Act.

Ross Bangs the Corporate Improvement and Performance (CIP) Manager 
presented the report.

There were 14 risks included within the Quarter 3 Risk report, one less 
than at the end of Quarter 2.

Of the 14 risks, the 3 considered as high included the risk of a critical ICT 
breach, the continued impact following the introduction of the 
Homelessness Reduction Act and the risk to the Council of not 
maximising its Asset Portfolio relating to income.

The risk relating to staff recruitment and retention had been reduced to a 
lower rating and the risk relating to the occupancy of Riverside had been 
removed as requested at the previous meeting.

The implementation of the General Data Protection Regulations continued 
to be above target and a new target date had been proposed for 31 May 
2019 following audit recommendations involving new terms being drafted 
to include new contractual obligations to the Council’s suppliers and how 
they handled and processed Council data.

32



Governance & Audit Committee
15 February 2019

3

Action By
In addition, the Team was keeping a watching brief on how implications 
surrounding Brexit could impact the Council’s contracted supplier supply 
chains.

Councillor Hewett made some observations; firstly, the content and the 
process on how the risks were being dealt with, felt and looked much 
better than it used to be; however, he asked the Corporate Improvement 
and Performance (CIP) Manager to describe the process behind some of 
the revisions made in relation to staff recruitment and what had caused 
the likelihood score and the target impact score to change.  Members 
were informed that these scores had changed due to several meetings 
with the Head of Service and how the Council advertised its vacancies.  
The new ways of advertising had improved recruitment rates and the 
Executive Manager had been content with these improvements.

Councillor Hewett’s second observation was in relation to the target dates 
being moved and felt that the original target date should remain as the 
date the target had originally been set.  He asked the Corporate 
Improvement and Performance (CIP) Manager and the Internal Audit 
Manager to revisit the register as it required some further thought.  
Another observation was the word ‘likelihood’ which he felt should be 
condensed to fit into the column and finally, the business rate retention 
scheme that had been trended as downwards should, in his opinion, be 
static at 4.

Mr Plaskett, the Independent Lay Advisor to the Governance & Audit 
Committee had been critical of the Risk Register at the previous meeting 
and thanked the Corporate Improvement and Performance (CIP) 
Manager for this new version.  Councillor Hewett endorsed the above 
comments as he also felt more confident with this new version and 
apologised for all the challenges that he had raised in the past.
Councillor Wilkinson and Councillor Monument queried the description 
under the failure to deliver the Council’s Corporate priorities.   It was 
explained that this risk could be removed as the target had been 
maintained for some time.   Councillor Hewett disagreed and felt that the 
risk should remain as it did not cease to be a risk even though the targets 
had been achieved.  Mr Plaskett supported its removal at this stage but to 
be re-instated subject to change.  It was agreed that the same rationale 
should be used for the Corporate Business Continuity Plan.  Referring to 
the Business Rate Retention Scheme, the Chairman believed that the 
consultation did not provide a clear picture of the future and therefore the 
risk should remain.  Members agreed that the Business Rate Retention 
Scheme risk should remain.

Referring to the final risk in respect of Capita Services, Councillor Hewett 
advised that this matter had already been included on the Overview & 
Scrutiny Commission Work Programme for the next meeting in March 
2019.  The Chairman felt that it should be added to the Governance & 
Audit Committee Work Programme too for future debate.  Members were 
informed that this matter had already been added to the Internal Audit 
Plan.

The report was otherwise noted; subject to a watching brief being kept on 
implications of national policy (such as Brexit); and the following risks 
being removed from the Risk Register:

33



Governance & Audit Committee
15 February 2019

4

Action By
1. Failure to deliver the Council’s Corporate priorities
2. Failure to effectively implement the Corporate Business Continuity 

Plan.

9/19 ANNUAL GRANT CERTIFICATION REPORT 2017/18 (AGENDA ITEM 
9) 

The Chairman welcomed Mark Hodgson to the meeting.  Mark Hodgson 
had replaced Kevin Suter as the Lead Audit Partner following Kevin’s 
relocation and would be attending the Governance & Audit Committee 
meetings in future.  The Annual Grant Certification Report being 
considered was the last report from Kevin. 

Mark Hodgson, the Lead Audit Partner presented the Annual Report and 
provided Members with a summary of their work on Breckland Council’s 
2017-18 claims.

The Housing Benefits subsidy claim had been certified with a total value 
of £31,406,201, a number of errors had been found and extended testing 
had been carried out in four areas representing a small increase in the 
level of error compared to the previous year; however, no amendments 
had been made.  The Anglia Revenues Partnership (ARP) had 
implemented additional quality control procedures for all claims with 
earnings since 1 April 2018 to reduce the overall level of error in this area.  
The nature of the areas identified, totalling in the region of £20k, had been 
highlighted in the qualification letter.

The 2017/18 certification fees had increased this year due to the level of 
extended testing that had been undertaken.  

Councillor Hewett asked how that level of error rate across the whole of 
ARP compared to other Councils.  Members were assured that Breckland 
Council was definitely not in the top quarter.

Mr Plaskett asked if there were any lessons to be learnt.  The Lead Audit 
Partner advised that ARP did carry out a review each year; however, to 
alleviate Members’ concerns he had never known a claim where no errors 
had been identified.  

In response to a concern about how the claim was driven by the volume 
of samples, the Executive Director of Commercialisation & S151 Officer 
advised that further conversations would be had with ARP.  

The Annual Grant Certification Report was otherwise noted.

The Chairman asked if a formal recommendation to agree the Annual 
Grant Certification Report could be included in future.

10/19 2018/19 AUDIT PLANNING REPORT (AGENDA ITEM 10) 

Mark Hodgson, the Lead Audit Partner for Ernst & Young was responsible 
for carrying out audits on most of Norfolk, Suffolk and Cambridgeshire.

The Audit Plan summarised the external auditors’ initial assessment of 
the key risks that drove the development of an effective audit for 
Breckland Council and outlined the planned audit strategy in response to 

34



Governance & Audit Committee
15 February 2019

5

Action By
those risks.

The audit risks/areas of focus had been highlighted on page 27 of the 
agenda pack; subtle changes had been made in terms of fraud risk which 
had been split but had been subject to the same testing.

Councillor Hewett stated that fraud, in his opinion, could be perceived as 
alarming to a resident who took an interest in such matters and asked if 
the terminology could be changed.  The Lead Audit Partner explained the 
international definition of fraud that had been used in terms of 
management controls. The Chairman asked if the Council had the powers 
to change that description or not.    The Lead Audit Partner said that he 
would be uncomfortable changing it as it was about how the opinion was 
reached. Mr Plaskett assured Members that this was a common 
terminology used across the public sector and in the NHS.  It was noted 
that the only risk was around international standards.

Councillor Hewett raised concern about too much focus being paid to 
Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE).  

Referring to Value for Money on pages 36 and 37 of the agenda pack, 
Members were informed that the impact of Brexit on future service 
provision had been considered and the level of risk would be monitored. 
 
In response to a question in relation to the component performance 
materiality range and whether this related to a single element.  The Lead 
Audit Partner for Ernst & Young explained that this component had a 
lower materiality rate.

The 2018/19 Audit Planning Report was agreed.  

11/19 STRATEGIC AND ANNUAL INTERNAL AUDIT PLANS 2019/20 
(AGENDA ITEM 11) 

Faye Haywood, the Internal Audit Manager presented the report for 
Members to note and approve.  It was noted that the recommendation to 
approve the Audit Charter had been inadvertently omitted from the report 
and would need to be considered.

There was an obligation under the PSIAS for the Charter to be 
periodically reviewed and presented.  The latest version of the Charter 
had been updated to reference the Internal Audit Manager role. 

The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 required that a relevant 
authority must undertake an effective internal audit to evaluate the 
effectiveness of its risk management, control and governance processes 
taking into account public sector internal auditing standards or guidance.

Mr Plaskett highlighted the responsibility section on page 71 of the 
agenda pack, in particular section 2.3.4 and felt that the wording needed 
to be changed.  The Chairman asked for the words ‘within agreed time 
frames’ to be added to this section.

The purpose of the Internal Audit Strategy (see Appendix 2) confirmed 
how the internal audit service would be delivered and developed in 
accordance with the internal audit charter; how internal audit services 

35



Governance & Audit Committee
15 February 2019

6

Action By
linked to organisational objectives and priorities; and how the internal 
audit resource requirements had been assessed.

The overarching objective of the Strategic Internal Audit Plan (see 
Appendix 3) was to provide a comprehensive programme of review work 
over the next three years, with each year providing sufficient audit 
coverage to provide annual opinions, which could be used to inform the 
organisation’s Annual Governance Statement. Emma Hodds, Head of 
Internal Audit had discussed the associated risks for the forthcoming 
years with the Executive Management Team. 

Having developed the Strategic Internal Audit Plan, the Annual Audit Plan 
was an extract of this for the forthcoming financial year (see Appendix 4) 
and detailed the timings and the purposes of each audit agreed for 
inclusion in 2019/20. 

A number of concerns were raised in relation to Appendix 3 in respect of 
the limited assurance that had been given to procurement and contract 
management and it was asked if the timing for 2019/20 was sufficient.  
The other concern related to the lack of information pertaining to 
Breckland Bridge.  Members were informed that a limited assurance 
opinion had been given for the procurement and contract management 
area in 2018/19 but it had been agreed that this area should be revisited 
focusing on the progress made on completion of the proposed 
recommendations from the previous review.  Referring to Breckland 
Bridge, it was noted that this review had been deferred from the 2018/19 
plan to allow officers to focus on the due diligence of Breckland Bridge 
partnership extension proposals which were planned over the next 10 to 
15 years. Further days could be added accordingly.

Another concern raised was in relation to Strategic Housing and following 
a reasonable assurance that been given in 2016/17, the next review was 
not going to be undertaken until 2020/21. Members were informed that 
following discussions, this area was not classed as a high risk.

Digital Strategy, although an important area going forward, was another 
area that would not be looked at until 2021 which surprised some 
Members.  The Chief Accountant & Deputy S151 Officer explained that 
the Digital Strategy had only been approved in 2018; therefore, there 
would not be much information for Members to consider if the audit was 
carried out any earlier.

Mr Plaskett mentioned cyber security.  The Internal Audit Manager 
advised that detailed discussions on this matter needed to take place in 
2020.  

Members’ attention was drawn to the 3 recommendations on page 63 of 
the agenda and the further recommendation that had to be included in 
respect of the Internal Audit Charter.

RESOLVED that the Committee note and approves:

a) the internal audit Strategy for 2019/20;
b) the Strategic Internal Audit Plan 2019/20 to 2021/22;
c) the Annual Internal Audit Plan 2019/20; and
d) the Internal Audit Charter 2019/20.

36



Governance & Audit Committee
15 February 2019

7

Action By
12/19 AUDIT COMMITTEE SELF-ASSESSMENT EXERCISE & ACTION 

PLAN (AGENDA ITEM 12) 

The Head of Internal Audit presented the report and drew Members’ 
attention to the attached checklist at Appendix 1 of the report.  Members 
were asked if they felt that the information was an accurate reflection of 
the review that had taken place at the Governance & Audit Committee 
meeting held on 28 September 2018.

The Chairman asked Members if they were happy with the scores that 
had been given.

It was noted that some of the bullet points at section 1.9 of the report 
were out of line. 

RESOLVED that:

1. the attached checklist at Appendix 1 of the report be noted; and
2. an annual review of the self-assessment be confirmed.

13/19 TREASURY MANAGEMENT POLICY & STRATEGY 2019-20 
(AGENDA ITEM 13) 

The Chief Accountant & Deputy S151 Officer presented the report.

The report outlined the Council’s Prudential Indicators for 2019-20 to 
2022-23 and set out the expected treasury operations for this period and 
requested Full Council’s approval for the Treasury Management Policy, 
Strategy and Prudential Indicators for 2019-20 to 2022-23.

The Council’s Treasury Management Policies and Prudential Indicators 
had been more closely aligned to the Council’s Capital Strategy and had 
been amended to include both a definition of and a schedule of financial 
and non-financial investments (the changes made had been highlighted in 
red).

Councillor Hewett asked how many prudential indicators there were.  
Members were informed that these would have to be counted as there 
were many that did not apply.

Another question asked was in relation to how table 3 had been derived in 
respect of the capital funding requirement on page 108 of the agenda 
pack.  Members were informed that the movement was the Council’s 
capital spend in the year and was linked to the capital budget that showed 
the Council moving into a notional borrowing position.

Councillor Hewett felt that there was an interesting trend in comparison to 
table 3 and table 9 (on page 111 of the agenda pack).  The Chief 
Accountant advised that table 9 was in relation to the PFI scheme. 

Councillor Hewett also asked about the Icelandic investments and 
whether any monies, if any, was still being paid to the Council. Members 
were informed that the residual Icelandic investments still remained and 
the Council was still getting paid.

Referring to Appendix C of the report, Councillor Hewett felt that the 

37



Governance & Audit Committee
15 February 2019

8

Action By
document contained some very interesting language and views and 
whoever wrote it should be congratulated.

Mr Plaskett referred to the net financing need in 2020-21 highlighted 
within table 2 on page 108 of the agenda pack.  Members were informed 
that this was linked to the purchase of new waste vehicles.

Referring to table 5 on page 109 of the agenda pack in relation to the low 
percentages and the figures being in brackets, Members were informed 
that this was good news as it was about the Council earning interest 
rather than borrowing so the indicator was negative.

RECOMMEND to Full Council that:

1) the Treasury Management Strategy 2019-20 to 2022-23 at 
Appendix A be approved;

2) the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) statement contained 
within Appendix A which sets out the Council’s policy on MRP be 
approved;

3) the Prudential & Local Indicators and limits contained within 
Appendix A (Tables 1-11) be approved;

4) the Investment Strategy 2019-20 (Appendix B) and the detailed 
criteria included in Appendix B1 be approved; and

5) the Treasury Management Policy at Appendix B2 be approved.

14/19 ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2018-19 (AGENDA ITEM 14) 

The Chief Accountant & Deputy S151 Officer presented the new report 
which would be reported annually in future.

Within the Statement of Accounts, the Council disclosed the accounting 
policies it had applied to all material balances and transactions.  This 
report presented the accounting policies to be adopted for the 2018-19 
financial year and had been prepared in line with CIPFA’s Code of 
Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the UK 2018-19 (the Code).

Members were informed that the areas marked in yellow would be 
updated in March/April 2019.

It was noted that there had been two major areas of change within the 
Code in 2018-19. The IFRS 15 – Revenue from contracts with customers 
and IFRS 9 – the Financial Instruments.  Members were informed that 
IFRS 15 was not expected to have any impact on the Council and IFRS 9 
would have a limited impact.

In response to a concern about why the accounting policies were not 
based on 2019/20, the Chief Accountant & Deputy S151 Officer explained 
that unfortunately, the information for 2019/20 would not be available until 
later in the year.

Councillor Monument queried the format of certain pages.  Members were 
informed that these pages would be on A4 orientation next time. 

38



Governance & Audit Committee
15 February 2019

9

Action By

RESOLVED that the Accounting Policies for 2018-19 at Appendix A of the 
report be agreed.

15/19 COUNTER FRAUD CORRUPTION AND BRIBERY POLICY, 
WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY AND MONEY LAUNDERING POLICY 
(AGENDA ITEM 15) 

The Chief Accountant & Deputy S151 Officer presented the report.

Members were being asked to review and recommend to Full Council for 
approval the updated Counter Fraud Corruption and Bribery Policy, 
Whistleblowing Policy and Money Laundering Policy.

The Policies were last reviewed in 2016 and had bene updated in 
conjunction with Internal Audit, Legal Services and Human Resources to 
ensure the fullest policy coverage.

It was difficult to gauge how well these policies had worked in the past as 
the focus was on prevention and identification of fraud and a 
whistleblowing policy which people were willing to use.  There was no 
data available to judge performance; however, this review ensured that 
the policies remained up to date and focussed on the Council.

Members were informed that if these polices were approved a training 
refresh would be rolled out to all staff and Members which could include 
some form of e-learning training.

Councillor Monument had noticed a word missing on page 172 of the 
agenda pack under the heading, implementation.  Currently it read: “there 
was a source of support for Fraud”.  Members were informed that the 
words, fraud detection and prevention of fraud would be added to that 
particular sentence.

Mr Plaskett asked if the Council had a gifts and hospitality policy.  It was 
confirmed that this Policy sat within the Officer and Member Code of 
Conduct and the register was updated whenever any gifts etc were 
received.

Mr Plaskett referred to gambling addiction and asked if the Council had 
any policies on this subject matter.  He also asked if staff were blocked 
from accessing gambling sites at work. The Chief Accountant & Deputy 
S151 Officer said that she was unsure if the Council had any policies 
relating to gambling but she would follow this up with HR and check 
whether the computers were indeed blocked.

Councillor Wilkinson asked if the staff were involved with the Breckland 
Lottery.  Members were informed that the Breckland Lottery was run by 
an outside organisation but staff could access that.

Councillor Hewett was pleased with the format of the documentation, it 
was easy to read and had been well written; however, he believed that 
the Whistleblowing Policy should be re-visited.  He felt that as the 
Whistleblowing Policy applied to all Councillors (as well as staff), 
whistleblowing could sometimes be seen as vexatious as could be difficult 
to measure.  Taking on board the vexatious point, the Chief Accountant & 

39



Governance & Audit Committee
15 February 2019

10

Action By
Deputy S151 Officer advised that the section on whistleblowing at the top 
of page 181 of the agenda pack could be extended to include this.

It was noted that on pages 186 and 187 of the agenda pack there were no 
contact details for whistleblowing.  Attention was drawn to section 3 on 
page 181, under the heading, How to raise a Concern.

Subject to the aforementioned changes being made; it was

RECOMMENDED to Council that:

1. the Counter Fraud Corruption and Bribery Policy be approved;
2. the Whistleblowing Policy be approved; and
3. the Money Laundering be approved.

16/19 WORK PROGRAMME (AGENDA ITEM 16) 

An updated work programme would be circulated in due course.

17/19 NEXT MEETING (AGENDA ITEM 17) 

The date of the next meeting on Wednesday, 5 June 2019 was not 
formally agreed.  Although there could be new Members on the 
Governance & Audit Committee following the Elections, the Chairman had 
not been consulted on changing the meeting day from a Friday to a 
Wednesday and would have great difficulty, if he was still appointed as 
Chairman, to attend on a Wednesday.  Councillor Hewett and the Internal 
Audit Manager said that they would have difficulty too.

It was agreed that the Democratic Services Officer would look into this 
matter.

As no-one knew the outcome of the Elections, Councillor Hewett took the 
opportunity to thank the Chairman for chairing these meetings in such a 
focused manner.  The Chairman also thanked the Committee Members 
and all the Officers involved.

18/19 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC (AGENDA ITEM 18) 

See Minute No. 8/19 above.

19/19 QUARTER 3 2018-19 RISK REPORT - APPENDIX 2 (AGENDA ITEM 
19) 

See Minute No. 8/19 above.

The meeting closed at 11.25 am

CHAIRMAN

40


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	4 Chairman's Announcements
	8 Planning Committee
	Minutes

	9 Governance & Audit Committee
	Minutes


